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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

 
 

----------------------------------------------------------------X                Case No.  
JOHN MUNRO,      
         
                                           Plaintiff, 
    
                           - against -    
     
HAUPPAUGUE FIRE DEPARTMENT and 
HAUPPAUGUE FIRE DISTRICT, 
 
                   Defendants. 

 
                COMPLAINT 
 
 
          PLAINTIFF DEMANDS 
             A TRIAL BY JURY 
 

----------------------------------------------------------------X  
 

 Plaintiff, John Munro, by his attorney, The Law Office of Joshua P. Frank, PLLC, hereby 

complains of the Defendants, Hauppaugue Fire Department and Hauppaugue Fire District, as 

follows: 

NATURE OF THE CASE 

1. Plaintiff, John Munro, complains pursuant to the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, 

42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq. (hereinafter the “ADA”) and the New York State Human Rights 

Law, New York State Executive Law § 296 et seq. (hereinafter the “NYSHRL”), and seeks 

damages to redress the injuries he has suffered for being subjected to discrimination by the 

Defendants because of his disability (morbid obesity). 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

2. Jurisdiction of this Court is proper under 42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq., and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 

and 1343. 

3. The Court has supplemental jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s NYSHRL claims pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. § 1367. 
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4. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) in that Defendants’ 

principal place of business is located within the Eastern District. 

PROCEDURAL PREREQUISITES 

5. The Plaintiff filed a charge of discrimination upon which this Complaint is based with the 

Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”). 

6. The Plaintiff received a notice of his right to file suit from the EEOC, dated July 31, 2019, 

with respect to the aforementioned charge of discrimination.   A copy of said notice is annexed 

hereto. 

7. This action has been commenced within 90 days of receipt of the aforementioned notice. 

PARTIES 

8. Plaintiff John Munro is a resident of the State of New York and Suffolk County.   

9.  Defendant Hauppaugue Fire Department, comprised of various fire rescue Companies and 

 auxiliary emergency rescue teams, maintains its headquarters at 855 Wheeler Road, 

 Hauppaugue, New York 11788.   

10.  Defendant Hauppaugue Fire District, a district corporation of New York State, oversees the 

 Hauppaugue Fire Department and maintains its headquarters at 855 Wheeler Road, 

 Hauppaugue, New York 11788.   

11.  The aforementioned Defendants are referred to herein collectively as the “Defendants.” 

12. At all times relevant herein, the Defendants were joint employers of the Plaintiff. 

13. At all times relevant herein, the Defendants were empowered to, and did, hire and supervise 

the Plaintiff. 

14. At all times relevant herein, the Defendants were empowered to, and did, set the terms and 

conditions of Plaintiff’s employment and promulgate work rules and assignments governing 
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Plaintiff’s employment. 

15. The Defendants are covered employers under both the ADA and NYSHRL. 

16. At all times relevant herein, Plaintiff John Munro was employed by Defendant Hauppaugue 

Fire District as a Maintenance Worker.  Furthermore, at all times relevant herein, the 

Plaintiff was employed by Defendant Hauppaugue Fire Department as a paid volunteer 

Firefighter. 

MATERIAL FACTS 

17.  On or about October 2, 2017, the Plaintiff was sworn in and began his employment with the 

 Defendants as a Maintenance Worker and Firefighter.   

18.  At all times relevant herein, the Plaintiff was assigned to “Truck Company No. 1,” based out 

 of a fire station located at 855 Wheeler Road, Hauppauge, New York 11788.  The same fire 

 station housed personnel of “Engine Company No. 4.”  

19.  Soon after Plaintiff’s employment began, in November, 2017, he began suffering from a 

 hostile work environment in which he faced brutal and persistent ridicule and harassment 

 regarding his disability (morbid obesity). 

20.  At all times relevant herein, in light of Plaintiff’s weight (above 347 pounds), he was morbidly 

 obese (as a matter of medical fact).  

21.  The following constitutes a portion of the discriminatory harassment, mockery, and ridicule 

 that has been directed towards Plaintiff John Munro. 

22.  In November, 2017, while the Plaintiff was on a fire truck, Lieutenant Jonathan Kriklava and 

 Firefighter Bryan Bagdziunas remarked that Plaintiff took up two seats and that the seatbelt 

 did not fit him.  Firefighter Michael Bosi then called the Plaintiff a “fat fuck.”  Supervisor 

 Andy Bagdziunas (father of Bryan Bagsziunas) heard the above-mentioned comments but 
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 chose to laugh at the Plaintiff rather than reprimand his subordinates for their harassment of 

 the Plaintiff. 

23.  In November, 2017, Mr. Bagdziunas told the Plaintiff that he should not lean on the firehouse 

 pool table because that will cause the pool table to break.  Mr. Bagdziunas ridiculed the 

 Plaintiff regarding his disability in the presence of the Plaintiff’s colleagues.  

24.  Thereafter, in December, 2017, Mr. Kriklava ridiculed the Plaintiff regarding his disability 

 by telling Plaintiff John Munro that he can sit only in the broken recliner chair in the 

 firehouse lounge and that it was Plaintiff’s “permanent chair” from then onward.   Mr. 

 Kriklava’s comment implied that the Plaintiff would otherwise break other chairs if he sat 

 on them. 

25.  Also in December, 2017, Mr. Bagdziunas walked up and told the Plaintiff, “John, you’re fat.”  

 Mr. Bagdziunas made this discriminatory comment at “Grafton’s Bar,” where firefighter were 

 gathered after attending a holiday party. 

26.  In or around February, 2018, Mr. Bagdziunas asked the Plaintiff whether he had a “FUPA” 

 (Fat Upper Pubic Area) while trying to pull up the Plaintiff’s shirt.  Mr. Bagdziunas then 

 further harassed the Plaintiff by calling him a “cow.”  Mr. Kriklava decided to add to the 

 Plaintiff’s debasement by asking him about his “FUPA” and remarking that the Plaintiff had 

 left “stretch marks” on the toilet bowl.   

27.  Continuing his unrelenting harassment of the Plaintiff, in or around March, 2018, Mr. 

 Bagdziunas showed members of the Hauppauge Fire Department photographs of a grossly 

 overweight film character named “Billy Bob” and told all who would listen that the Plaintiff 

 was “Billy Bob.”  Mr. Bagdziunas thus humiliated the Plaintiff regarding his disability. 
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28.  Subsequently, in March, 2018, veteran Firefighter Warren Holtje ridiculed Plaintiff John 

 Munro, in the presence of other firefighters, about not fitting onto one seat in the fire truck. 

29.  Mr. Bagdziunas and Mr. Bosi, also in March, 2018, harassed the Plaintiff about not fitting 

 into a single seat on the fire truck. 

30.  Furthermore, Mr. Kriklava repeatedly ridiculed the Plaintiff regarding his disability by 

 remarking that the Plaintiff ate food off of the floor. 

31.  In addition, Mr. Bagdziunas ridiculed the Plaintiff by telling him that he needed to sew two 

 shirts together in order to be able to fit into his shirt. 

32.  Despite his concerns about appearing weak and/or becoming further alienated, Plaintiff John 

 Munro and his father, Scott Munro, Sr. (a Commissioner of Hauppaugue Fire District), met 

 with Hauppaugue Fire Department Chief Steven Feron on April 2, 2018 to address Plaintiff’s 

 hostile work environment.   

33.  Although Chief Feron promised the Plaintiff that he would meet with him again on Sunday to 

 get more detail regarding his disability-related harassment complaint, Chief Feron did not 

 appear for Sunday’s scheduled meeting, did not telephone the Plaintiff to cancel or postpone, 

 and never made an effort to follow up with Plaintiff John Munro regarding his complaint. 

34.  Not only did the Defendants fail to prevent the foregoing discriminatory harassment by way 

 of implementing anti-discrimination training and anti-discrimination policies and complaint 

 procedures, but the Defendants also failed to promptly investigate and address Plaintiff John 

 Munro’s hostile work environment complaints and remedy his hostile work environment. 

35.  In fact, in the wake of the Plaintiff’s complaints, he encountered further hostilities (such as 

 Mr. Bagdziunas sticking his middle finger up at the Plaintiff) and even the intentional 
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 tampering with his lifesaving firefighter’s equipment in late April of 2018 through mid-May 

 of 2018. 

36.  It was not until the summer of 2018, after repeated complaints, that the Defendants belatedly 

 retained an investigator, who, inter alia, concluded that Plaintiff’s allegations were likely true. 

37.  Despite Plaintiff’s complaints, however, the Plaintiff’s hostile work environment remained.   

38.  By way of example, after an apartment fire in the early morning hours of March 17, 2019, 

 Plaintiff returned to the firehouse to find Second Assistant Chief Brett Martinez and the rest 

 of the crew sitting and eating doughnuts.  Mr. Martinez then mocked the Plaintiff as he said 

 with a smirk, “John, have a doughnut.  I’m not trying to be mean or offensive or anything, but 

 have a doughnut.”  Mr. Martinez then began to laugh.  Second Assistant Chief Martinez was 

 plainly razzing the Plaintiff, in front of his colleagues, regarding Plaintiff’s disability-related 

 hostile work environment complaints. 

39.  Plaintiff’s condition constitutes an impairment that substantially limits one or more of his 

 major life activities within the meaning of § 12102(1)(A) of the ADA. 

40.  Plaintiff remains a qualified individual who can perform the essential functions of his  

 employment with or without a reasonable accommodation. 

41.  The Defendants subjected the Plaintiff to a hostile work environment as he endured 

 persistent harassment and ridicule related to his disability. 

42.  The Defendants failed to prevent Plaintiff’s hostile work environment and, furthermore, the 

 Defendants failed to promptly remedy the hostile work environment. 

43. The Plaintiff has been unlawfully discriminated against, humiliated, and degraded and, as 

a result, has suffered a loss of his civil rights and associated damages. 

44. The Defendants’ actions and conduct were intentional and intended to harm the Plaintiff. 
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45. As a result of the acts and conduct complained of herein, the Plaintiff has suffered 

significant emotional distress, mental anguish, humiliation, loss of enjoyment of life, 

damage to his reputation, and other non-pecuniary losses.   

46. The Defendants’ conduct has been malicious, willful, outrageous, and/or reckless and 

conducted with full knowledge of the law.  As such, the Plaintiff demands punitive 

damages against the Defendants.    

AS A FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION  
FOR DISCRIMINATION UNDER THE ADA 

 
47. The Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every paragraph above as if said paragraphs 

were more fully set forth herein at length. 

48. The Plaintiff claims that the Defendants violated the ADA, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 12101, 

et seq. 

49. Title 42 of the ADA, Chapter 126, Subchapter I, § 12112, Discrimination [§ 102] states: 

“(a) General rule. - No covered entity shall discriminate against a qualified individual on 

the basis of disability in regard to job application procedures, the hiring, advancement, or 

discharge of employees, employee compensation, job training, and other terms, conditions, 

and privileges of employment.” 

50. As alleged in the factual averments of this Complaint, the Defendants engaged in unlawful 

discriminatory practices against the Plaintiff by subjecting him to harassment and a hostile 

work environment due to his disability.  

AS A SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 
FOR DISCRIMINATION UNDER THE NYSHRL 

51. The Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every paragraph above as if said paragraphs 

were more fully set forth herein at length. 
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52. Executive Law § 296 (1) provides that, “It shall be an unlawful discriminatory practice: (a) 

For an employer or licensing agency, because of an individual's age, race, creed, color, 

national origin, sexual orientation, military status, sex, disability, predisposing genetic 

characteristics, marital status, or domestic violence victim status, to refuse to hire or 

employ or to bar or to discharge from employment such individual or to discriminate 

against such individual in compensation or in terms, conditions or privileges of 

employment.” 

53. As alleged in the factual averments of this Complaint, the Defendants engaged in 

unlawful discriminatory practices against the Plaintiff by subjecting him to harassment 

and a hostile work environment due to his disability.  

JURY DEMAND 

54.  Plaintiff John Munro hereby requests a trial by jury. 

 WHEREFORE, the Plaintiff respectfully requests a judgment against the Defendants, 

individually, jointly, and severally, as follows: 

A. Declaring that the Defendants engaged in unlawful employment practices prohibited by the 

ADA and the NYSHRL in that the Defendants discriminated against the Plaintiff on the 

basis of his disability; 

B. Awarding damages to the Plaintiff to make him whole for any losses suffered as a result of 

the Defendants’ unlawful employment practices; 

C. Awarding the Plaintiff compensatory damages for emotional distress, mental anguish, pain 

and suffering, injury to his reputation, and other non-pecuniary losses; 

D. Awarding the Plaintiff punitive damages; 
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E. Awarding the Plaintiff attorneys’ fees, costs, disbursements, and expenses incurred in the 

prosecution of this action; and  

F. Awarding the Plaintiff such other and further relief as the Court may deem equitable, just 

and proper to remedy the Defendants’ unlawful employment practices. 

 
 
Dated:  Carle Place, New York  
  August 30, 2019 
 
        THE LAW OFFICE OF 

 JOSHUA P. FRANK, PLLC 
 
        /s/ Joshua P. Frank                   
        Joshua P. Frank, Esq.  

 Attorney for Plaintiff 
       1 Old Country Road, Suite 385 
       Carle Place, New York 11514  
       (516) 416-4444 
       jfrank@jpfranklaw.com 
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12)  Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
for the

__________ District of __________ 

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Plaintiff(s)

v. Civil Action No.

Defendant(s)

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address)

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint. 
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:
Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk

DOUGLAS C. PALMER
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